IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-TS-00414

JOHN BOYCE TALBERT, III

APPELLANT

VS.

DEBORAH A. TALBERT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2002-0943

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

WILLIAM C. BELL, MSB #P. O. BOX 1876
RIDGELAND, MS 39158
601-956-0360/PHONE
601-956-2922/FAX
Attorney for John Boyce Talbert, III,
Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-TS-00414

JOHN BOYCE TALBERT, III

APPELLANT

VS.

DEBORAH A. TALBERT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERSTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court abused its discretion and/or committed manifest error by finding that

 Boyce Talbert was not entitled to a termination or downward modification of his

 alimony and insurance obligations.
 - a. The trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to consider the applicable

 Armstrong factors.
 - b. The trial court's findings of fact are not supported by substantial credible evidence.
- II. The trial court abused its discretion, committed manifest error and erred as a matter of law by modifying and re-writing the parties' divorce judgment regarding the payment of Debby Talbert's uninsured medical expenses.
- III. The court abused its discretion, committed manifest error and erred as a matter of law in finding Boyce Talbert in contempt of court regarding a \$1,500.00 lump sum alimony payment.
- IV. The trial court abused its discretion, committed manifest error and erred as a matter of law by ordering Boyce Talbert to pay Debby Talbert's attorney fees.
- V. The trial court abused its discretion, committed manifest error and erred as a matter of law by rejecting and disregarding unrebutted and uncontradicted expert testimony from a certified public accountant who was qualified by the court as an expert witness.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Boyce Talbert, III ("Boyce") and Deborah A. Talbert ("Debby") married February 20, 1988. The Talberts had no children together and divorced on the ground of irreconcilable differences in the Chancery Court of Madison County on May 30, 2003.

As part of the final judgment, the chancery court incorporated the Talbert's "Property Settlement Agreement". The "Property Settlement Agreement" was reached at the conclusion of a lengthy mediation session. Based on the parties' respective financial positions at the time of the mediation, Boyce agreed to pay lump sum alimony of \$54,000.00 and periodic alimony of \$3,300.00 per month. Boyce also agreed to pay Debby's long term care insurance premium up to \$350.00 per month. Boyce also agreed to pay for Debby's health insurance, plus Debby's uninsured expenses up to a monthly cap of \$500.00.

In a subsequent 2004 modification and contempt proceeding, the parties agreed that Boyce would continue to pay Debby's health insurance premium and all uninsured medical and dental expenses up to \$750.00 per month until such time as Debby is eligible for Medicare.

On October 27, 2006, Boyce filed his Petition for Modification of Final Judgment, in which Boyce alleged that there were material changes in circumstances that warranted a downward modification or elimination of Boyce's alimony and insurance obligations. On February 5, 2007, Debby filed her Petition for Citation of Contempt and for Other Relief.

The trial of the parties' respective pleadings began April 26, 2007 and was continued to and completed on July 19, 2007.

The trial court entered its Opinion and Final Judgment on September 26, 2007, denying any and all relief requested by Boyce and finding Boyce in contempt for not paying a \$1,500.00 lump sum alimony payment. Boyce filed his Motion for New Trial and for Other Relief on Friday, October 5, 2007 and his Amended Motion for New Trial and for Other Relief on Monday, October 8, 2007. On February 11, 2008, the trial court entered its Order Denying, in which the trial court denied Boyce's Amended Motion for New Trial and for Other Relief. Boyce filed his Notice of Appeal on March 6, 2008.

STATEMENT OF FACTS¹

At trial, Boyce presented substantial credible evidence regarding the parties' respective financial positions in 2003 [the divorce] and 2007 [the modification trial]. This evidence was presented through Boyce, Debby, and through a certified public accountant who was designated as an expert and accepted by the court as an expert witness. Deborah Talbert did not rebut or contradict any material financial information provided by Boyce at trial. In fact, Debby admitted to most, if not all, of the changes in her financial situation and needs that support Boyce's request of a modification.

During 2003, when the Talberts divorced, Boyce's total income was \$145,774.00. RE 89, lines 11-16. Boyce's total personal income for the first six (6) months of 2007 was \$14,545.00, an average of \$2,424.00 per month. RE 91, lines 4-14. Boyce paid total alimony and insurance premium obligations during the first six (6) months of 2007 in the amount of \$29,655.00. RE 64; exhibit #15. Boyce's periodic alimony obligation for the first six (6) months of 2007 was \$19,800.00 (6 x \$3,300.00 per month). During the first six (6) months of 2007, Boyce's total alimony and insurance obligations to Debby exceeded his total income by more than \$15,000.00. At trial, Boyce presented uncontradicted and

¹ "RE" in this brief refers to "Record Excerpts".

² This figure includes periodic alimony and insurance obligations.

unrebutted evidence that he was paying his alimony and insurance obligations from borrowed funds. RE 98, lines 20-26.

Boyce's income for 2006, not including a one-time taxable inheritance from his mother, was (\$101,744.00). RE 90, line 29 to RE 91, lines 1-3. Boyce's adjusted gross income for 2006, including his inheritance and alimony obligations, was \$31,647.00. *See* Exhibit #5 (2006 Form 1040 return for Boyce). Debby's adjusted gross income for 2006, including alimony and medical obligations, was \$78,654.00. RE 96, lines 14-15. Not including Boyce's one-time inheritance from his mother, Debby's adjusted gross income in 2006 was approximately \$180,000.00 higher than Boyce's 2006 adjusted gross income. RE 96, lines 22-28. Debby's income from her occupation in 2006 was approximately \$67,000.00 higher than Boyce's 2006 income from his occupation. RE 96, lines 7-13.

In order to provide the trial court with income levels over longer periods of time leading up to the 2007 trial, Boyce presented the trial court with the following unrebutted and uncontradicted expert and lay witness evidence regarding his business finances:

- Boyce's business income for January 1, 2006 through April 2, 2007 was (\$22,315.13), an average monthly business income of (\$2,527.00) per month.

 See Exhibit #9, page 2
 - 2. Boyce's net business loss for 2006 was (\$54,996.00). RE 86, lines 25-27.
 - 3. Boyce's equity in his business at the time of trial was (\$2,796.39). RE 97, lines 13-16.
 - 4. At the end of 2006, Boyce's business lost approximately \$60,000.00 in recurring revenue due to a loss of three (3) regular clients. *See* Transcript, pages 33, line 16 through page 35, line 10, inclusive.

5. Boyce lost approximately 50% of his business revenue when he lost his clients from his Diamondhead office after Katrina. *See* Transcript, page 30, lines 5-19.

At the time of the 2007 trial, the after-tax cost to Boyce of his alimony and insurance obligations was \$4,868.00 per month. RE 104, lines 5-10, and see Exhibit #15. At the time of the divorce, the after-tax cost to Boyce of his alimony and insurance obligations was \$3,137.00. RE 101, lines 8-12, and see Exhibit #15.

At the time of the divorce, Debby's income was \$0.00. RE 47. The 8.05 financial statement that Debby presented at or just prior to the divorce mediation showed an income of \$0.00. RE 47. At the time of the divorce, Boyce negotiated the settlement with the anticipation that Debby would not make any income. See: transcript, page 65, lines 14-27.

At the time of the divorce, Debby's standard of living was a minimum of \$10,000.00 per month. See: transcript page 113, lines 11-13. At the time of trial, Debby's standard of living was approximately \$4,000.00 per month. See: transcript, page 113, lines 17-19. Debby admitted at trial that her current standard of living is "...roughly 40% of what it was at the time of the divorce. See: transcript, page 113, lines 20-22.

At the time of the divorce, Boyce agreed to pay periodic alimony that was equal to 31.5% of Debby's 2003 standard of living (\$3,300.00/\$10,462.00=31.5%). See: transcript, page 37, lines 1-18. At the time of trial, Boyce's periodic alimony obligation was more than 82% of Debby's 2007 standard of living (\$3,300.00/\$4,000.00 = 82.5%).

In spite of Debby's zero income at the time of the divorce, at the time of the modification trial, Debby's annual gross income was \$1,830.00 per month. RE 53. At the time of the modification trial, Debby admitted that her health does not prevent her from

working at a job that requires her to be on her feet most of the day and to see 20-25 patients every day. See: transcript, page 148, lines 3-9.

Boyce provided substantial credible evidence that a combination of market competition from other financial planners, hurricane Katrina, increasing difficulty attracting clients with advertising and mailings, the loss of \$60,000.00 in steady revenue from three (3) recurring clients and work time lost due to health problems combined to cause a drop in Boyce's business income. See: transcript page 27, line 10 through page 31, line 28 (inclusive).

In the March 8, 2004 modification, Boyce agreed to pay Debby's uninsured medical and dental expenses up to a monthly limit of \$750.00. The trial court, in its opinion and judgment, *sua sponte* modified and re-wrote the Talberts' prior agreements regarding medical insurance and the payment of Debby's medical expenses. Debby never filed a Rule 60(b) or any other motion requesting that the court modify, interpret or re-write the Talberts' agreements regarding the payment of Debby's uninsured medical expenses. At no time during the modification trial did Debby ever move for leave to amend her pleadings.

In its opinion and judgment, the trial court awarded Debby \$10,000.00 in attorney fees, of which approximately \$8,500.00 appear to be attributable to the modification proceeding. Debby never provided proof that she was unable to pay her attorney fees. Since the divorce, Boyce has paid to Debby over \$210,000.00 in periodic alimony and lump sum alimony. Debby continues to receive periodic alimony of \$3,300.00 per month, and her monthly expenses are less than her monthly income by roughly \$500.00 per month.

At the time of the modification trial, Boyce's monthly obligations to Debby exceeded his monthly income by more than \$2,400.00. Boyce's personal income for the

first six (6) months of 2007 was \$2,424.00 per month (RE 91, lines 10-18) and the after-tax cost of his alimony and insurance obligations in 2007 was \$4,868.00 per month (RE 104, lines 5-10).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

With all due respect, the trial court abused its discretion, committed manifest error, and erred as a matter of law in refusing to grant Boyce any of the relief he requested in his October 27, 2006 Petition for Modification of Final Judgment.

The record clearly shows that there have been material changes in the parties' circumstances since the Talberts divorced in May of 2003. The trial court erred by not analyzing the *Armstrong* factors. Both parties knew, or should have known, that there are inherent risks when agreeing to permanent periodic alimony. An essential part of permanent alimony is that the alimony is always modifiable upon a showing of a change in circumstances in one or both parties.

By failing to conduct an *Armstrong* analysis and denying all relief requested by Boyce, the trial court saddled Boyce with all of the inherent risk that goes with permanent alimony. In other words, the trial court's ruling insulates Debby from one of, and arguably the most, essential elements of permanent alimony—that it can be modified if circumstances change.

At the time of the divorce, Debby's income was \$0.00 and Boyce's income was more than \$145,774.00. Boyce's income for 2004 was more than \$300,000.00 and included income that he knew was in the works when he entered into the May, 2003 divorce agreement. At the time of the modification hearing, Debby's income was higher than

Boyce's and Boyce's alimony and insurance obligations exceeded his income by more than \$2,400.00.

At the time of the modification hearing, Debby admitted that her standard of living and her living expenses dropped to forty percent (40%) of her 2003 standard of living and living expenses. Debby is now able to work almost full time, stay on her feet most of the day, and see 20 to 25 patients each work day.

Debby's 2007 liabilities are less than 1/3 of her 2003 liabilities. Boyce's 2007 liabilities are almost double his liabilities at the time of the 2003 divorce.

At the time of the divorce, the divorce agreement resulted in Boyce paying approximately 31.5% of Debby's living expenses and standard of living. At the time of the modification hearing, Boyce was paying over 82% of Debby's living expenses and standard of living.

At the time of the divorce, the after tax cost of Boyce's obligations was \$3,137.00 per month. At the time of the modification hearing, the after tax cost of Boyce's obligations was \$4,868.00 per month and exceeded his monthly income by more than \$2,400.00.

The material changes in circumstances in either or both parties are grounds for Boyce to get relief from his alimony and insurance obligations. The trial court's rulings satisfy the manifest error and the abuse of discretion standards.

The trial court never found that Boyce acted in bad faith to avoid his alimony and insurance obligations to Debby. The trial court erred by finding certain facts that are not supported by credible evidence. For example, the trial court found that Boyce is ... "more a victim of his poor business decisions catching up with him than a victim of unforeseeable forces." There is no substantial credible evidence in the record to support this and the trial

court's related findings. Even if this finding had some basis, the trial court never made the requisite finding that Boyce must have acted in bad faith in an attempt to avoid his obligations.

The trial court also erred by rewriting, modifying and adding to the Talbert's March 8, 2004 agreement regarding uninsured medical expenses. Without either party asking the court to change the agreement, the trial court "modified" the agreement beyond the four corners of the agreement. Neither party claimed that the language in the March 8, 2004 agreement was ambiguous. Boyce agreed to pay Debby's uninsured medical and dental expenses up to a monthly cap. The trial court proceeded to expand the agreement to include essentially anything that is not paid by insurance up to the monthly cap, even if the charges and services are insured by the policy.

The trial court also erred by finding Boyce in contempt regarding a \$1,500.00 lump sum alimony payment that Debby never contested until after Boyce filed for a modification. The evidence at trial showed that Boyce's nonpayment of the \$1,500.00 was a bookkeeping error. There was no evidence showing that Boyce willfully violated the court's order. With no showing that Boyce willfully violated the court's order, that court erred by finding Boyce in contempt.

The trial court erred by ordering Boyce to pay \$9,263.41 of Debby's attorney fees in defense of the modification. Debby failed to prove that she was unable to pay her attorney fees. Since the divorce, Debby has received over \$250,000.00 in alimony, lump sum alimony and proceeds from the sale of the Talbert's home. Debby continues to receive periodic alimony of \$3,300.00 per month and her monthly expenses are approximately

\$500.00 less than her net income. Therefore, the court erred by awarding attorney fees to Debby.

The trial court also erred by disregarding and rejecting virtually all of the expert testimony and evidence presented through Boyce's CPA, Kenneth G. Walker. Mr. Walker was the only expert witness who testified. Mr. Walker presented substantial evidence and opinions regarding the Talbert's respective financial positions at the time of the divorce in 2003 and during the time leading up to the modification hearings in 2007. Without providing any explanation, the trial court disregarded and rejected the evidence presented by Mr. Walker. The trial court's rejection and disregard of expert testimony and expert evidence in this case is an abuse of discretion, manifest error, and error as a matter of law. Debby never contradicted, rebutted or otherwise attacked the evidence provided by Mr. Walker. Therefore, Mr. Walker's expert testimony and evidence should be binding on the trier of fact. This error alone is grounds for reversal, especially in light of the fact that the trial court never conducted an *Armstrong* analysis.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews a chancellor's decisions for manifest error or abuse of discretion. Clower v. Clower, 988 So.2d 441, 443 (¶6)(Miss.Ct.App.2008), citing Holcombe v. Holcombe, 813 So.2d 700, 703)(¶10)(Miss.2002). "Therefore, we will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or a clearly erroneous legal standard was applied." Clower (¶6), citing Yelverton v. Yelverton, 961 So.2d 19, 24 (¶6)(Miss.2007). "The word 'manifest' as used in this context is defined as 'unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable." Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d 1117, 1122 (Miss.1995).

"The chancellor's findings of fact will not be reversed if there is any substantial credible evidence which supports it." *Pacheco v. Pacheco*, 770 So.2d 1007, 1009 (¶8), (Miss.Ct.App.2000).

"The standard of review for questions of law is de novo." G.B. "Boots" Smith Corporation v. Cobb, 860 So.2d 744, 777, (¶6), (Miss.2003) (internal citations omitted).

APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.3

The trial court abused its discretion and/or committed manifest error by finding that Boyce was not entitled to a termination or downward modification of his alimony and insurance obligations.

- . The trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to consider the applicable *Armstrong* factors.
- . The trial court's findings of fact are not supported by substantial credible evidence.

Boyce filed his Petition For Modification of Final Judgment on October 27, 2006. See: Clerk's record beginning at page 92. In order to obtain a modification of his alimony, insurance, and medical expense obligations, it is well settled that Boyce must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there has been a material change in circumstances that could not have been anticipated at the time of the divorce. *Varner v. Varner*, 666 So.2d 493 (Miss.1995).

When the Talberts entered into their "Property Settlement Agreement" on May 22, 2003, both parties knew or should have known that the periodic alimony and insurance premium portions of the agreement could be modified. Professor Debbie Bell points out in her treatise *Bell on Mississippi Family Law* at page 275 that "...modification is an essential feature of permanent alimony" (citing *Hubbard v. Hubbard* 656 So.2d 124, 130 (Miss.1995).

The Court of Appeals in *Jones v. Jones*, 917 So.2d, 95(¶11) (Miss.Ct.App.2005) held that in a modification proceeding, the chancellor must consider the *Armstrong* factors when considering a request for a modification:

³ Issue I actually contains three (3) argued issues, but combines two (2) sub issues into the primary issue because these three (3) issues are so closely related.

Not only must the chancellor consider the *Armstrong* factors in initially determining whether to award alimony and the amount of the award, but the chancellor should also consider the *Armstrong* factors in deciding whether to modify periodic alimony, comparing the relative positions of the parties at the time of the request for modification in relation to their positions at the time of the divorce decree.

Jones at 99(¶11), citing James v. James, 774 So.2d 1098, 1102 (¶14)(Miss.Ct.App.1998).

"Periodic alimony can be modified by increasing, decreasing or terminating the award due to a material change in circumstances." *Clower* (¶7), citing *Holcombe v. Holcombe*, 813 So.2d 700, 703 (¶11)(Miss.2002). "The material change must be one that was not reasonably anticipated at the time of the original decree." *Clower* (¶6)(internal citations omitted). A material change in the income and expenses of both parties "...should be considered in determining any modification of periodic alimony." *Clower* (¶7), citing *Austin v. Austin*, 766 So.2d86, 90, (¶19)(citing *Armstrong v. Armstrong*).

The *Armstrong* factors that a chancellor must consider when considering a request for a modification of alimony are:

- (1) the income and expenses of the parties;
- (2) the health and earning capacities of the parties;
- (3) the needs of each party;
- (4) the obligations and assets of each party;
- (5) the length of the marriage;
- (6) the presence or absence of minor children in the home;
- (7) the age of the parties;
- (8) the standard of living of the parties;
- (9) the tax consequences of the spousal support order:

- (10) fault or misconduct;
- (11) wasteful dissipation of assets by either party and
- (12) any other factor deemed by the court to be just and equitable in connection with the setting of child support.

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