#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-00414

JOHN BOYCE TALBERT, III

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

**DEBORAH A. TALBERT** 

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2002-0943

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Of Counsel:

Benny M. "Mac" May (MSB DunbarMonroe, P.A.
270 Trace Colony Park, Suite A
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157
Telephone: (601) 898-2073
Facsimile: (601) 898-2074

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-00414

JOHN BOYCE TALBERT, III

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

**DEBORAH A. TALBERT** 

**APPELLEE** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WELL WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING BOYCE TALBERT'S MOTION FOR TERMINATION OR MODIFICATION OF HIS SUPPORT OBLIGATIONS.

A party seeking a modification of a divorce decree must demonstrate that there has been "a material change in circumstances occurred as a result of after-arising circumstances not reasonably anticipated at the time of agreement." *Dix v. Dix*, 941 So. 2d 913, 916 (¶15) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Varner v. Varner*, 666 So.2d 493, 497 (Miss. 1995).

It should be noted from the outset that, until litigation was commenced by the filing of Boyce's *Petition for Modification of Final Judgment*, in October 2006, no issue had been decided by the trial court on the merits of this action. Rather, the parties had resolved all issues between them. This began with their entry of an *Agreed Order* regarding temporary support in March 2003, continued with the entry of and agreed *Final Judgment of Divorce* in May 2005 which incorporated their mediated *Property Settlement* 

Agreement, and then finally culminated with an Agreed Order of modification in March 2004. R. at V. 1, pp. 14, 31, 89. Boyce has made repeated reference, both at trial and in his brief to this Court, regarding the amount of money that he has paid either to Debby or for her benefit since the parties' divorce in 2003. Debby asks that, in evaluating this matter, the Court consider the fact that Boyce agreed to pay all of these amounts. He was not forced to pay them by way of a judgment rendered by the trial court following a trial on the merits of this matter. This Court has stated the following regarding a party's efforts to modify the terms of a divorce settlement to which he previously agreed:

In property and financial matters between the divorcing spouses themselves, there is no question, that absent fraud or overreaching, the parties should be allowed broad latitude. When the parties have reached agreement and the chancery court has approved it, we ought to enforce it and take a dim view of efforts to modify it, as we ordinarily do when persons seek relief from their improvident contracts.

Speed v. Speed, 757 So. 2d 221, 224-25 (¶8) (Miss. 2000). Indeed, "[w]hen, as in this case, a provision for periodic alimony is based upon the agreement of the parties, that provision should not be modified without close scrutiny." *Morris v. Morris*, 541 So. 2d 1040, 1043 (Miss. 1989) (citations omitted).

Boyce first argues that the trial court erred in failing to make an on-the-record analysis of the *Armstrong* factors in denying his petition. The lack of such findings does not render the trial court's judgment on the issue *per se* reversible. *Moore v. Moore*, 803 So. 2d 1214, 1219 (¶19) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (quoting *McNally v. McNally*, 516 So. 2d 499, 501 (Miss.1987)). Rather, "[r]eversal requires manifest error." *Id.* A review of the

facts presented in this matter, and the trial court's findings thereon, demonstrates that the trial court's judgment was supported by substantial, credible evidence, and did not constitute manifest error.

Boyce offered two purported changes in circumstances in support of his petition. The first was his diagnosis of "severe glaucoma." It was contended that Boyce's glaucoma prevents him from earning the income that he earned previously, and that it warranted modification of his obligations. However, Boyce failed to show that his glaucoma has progressed to such a level as to affect his ability to sustain his earning level. No testimony was presented from any medical professional to support any such assertion. On cross-examination at trial, Boyce testified that the only long term affect that the glaucoma has had on him is his loss of the ability to read fine print. T. at V. 1, p. The trial court noted in its opinion that Boyce was observed at trial reading 43. documents with no trouble. R. at V. 2, p. 199. Furthermore, Boyce testified that he was diagnosed with glaucoma in 1999, some four years prior to the parties' divorce. T. at V. 1, p. 26. Thus, his glaucoma could not be considered a material change in circumstances arising after the parties' divorce. Dix v. Dix, 941 So. 2d 913, 916 (¶15) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing Varner v. Varner, 666 So.2d 493, 497 (Miss. 1995).

Boyce did testify that he had undergone several surgeries during 2005 and 2006 to correct his glaucoma, and that each of those surgeries caused him to be "out of commission" for approximately two to three weeks. T. at V. 1, p. 43. No evidence was

presented which would indicate the need for future surgeries, and the Court will not speculate as to whether any such future surgeries will be necessary. Therefore, to the extent that these surgeries could have conceivably supported a modification of Boyce's obligations, such a modification would only have been temporary in nature. The trial court correctly found that Boyce's glaucoma, was essentially a non-issue.

The only other factor upon which Boyce relied at trial is the general condition of the market. Boyce testified that Hurricane Katrina had negatively affected his business, and also testified generally that there had been a "downturn" in the market. However, on cross-examination, Boyce mentioned that he had recently participated in a meeting with other industry professionals and that they hoped to "turn all of that around." On further examination, Boyce would not provide specifics regarding that meeting or the future prospects that came from the meeting.

It is common knowledge that the financial market fluctuates and goes through "highs and lows." The Court was within its discretion in taking judicial notice of the same. *Enroth v. Memorial Hosp. at Gulfport*, 566 So. 2d 202, 205 (Miss. 1990). Although Boyce testified that prior to 2005, he had never made less money than the year before, he quickly recanted that brazen statement when presented with his own accountant's analysis showing that he made less in 2003 than he did in 2002. T. at V. 1, pp. 81-82. It is notable that it was during 2003, in which he was making less than he did the year before, that Boyce agreed to most of the obligations that he now seeks to have

the time of agreement" will be considered in ruling upon a request for modification. Dix v. Dix, 941 So. 2d 913, 916 (¶15) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citations omitted). Here again, it is just common knowledge that health insurance premiums increase with time and as insureds grow older. The parties should have reasonably anticipated that Debby's health insurance premiums would escalate significantly in between the time of divorce and the time at which Debby would qualify for Medicare. There is no question that Boyce was fully aware that Debby's health insurance premium was on the rise at the time that he signed the Agreed Order which was entered by the Court on March 8, 2004. In fact, the increase in Debby's health insurance premium was one of the main reasons cited in Boyce's Petition for Declaratory Judgment, to find Deborah A. Talbert in Contempt and for other Relief which was filed on February 4, 2004. R. at V. 1, p. 49. In that petition, Boyce stated that Debby's premium had increased approximately 35% in the seven months following the entry of the Final Judgment of Divorce. R. at V. 1, p. 53. Knowing that, Boyce agreed to continue paying the premium. Given that any increase in Debby's health insurance premium since April 2004 was foreseeable, it was proper for the trial court not to consider the same in ruling upon Boyce's petition.

Furthermore, the trial court found Boyce to be in contempt. As noted countless times by our appellate courts and other authorities,

[i]t is well settled in Mississippi that modification should not be allowed where the petitioner is not in the proper position to seek relief from the court. "He \*464 who doeth fraud, may not borrow the hands of the chancellor to draw equity from a source his own hands hath polluted." Billy G. Bridges & James W. Shelson,

Griffith Mississippi Chancery Practice § 42 (2000 ed.), citing *Thigpen v. Kennedy*, 238 So.2d 744 (Miss.1970) (equitable maxim that a litigant must come into equity with clean hands). No person as a complaining party can have the aid of a court of equity when his conduct with respect to the matter in question has been characterized by willful inequity. *O'Neill v. O'Neill*, 551 So. 2d 228, 233 (Miss.1989).

Harris v. Harris, 879 So. 2d 457, 463-64 (¶27) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Therefore, even if Boyce had met his burden for modification, his petition would have nevertheless been barred from consideration due to his contempt.

The case cited by Boyce for the proposition that modification is appropriate upon showing of an unanticipated material change in circumstances also provides that, when a reduction in income has been caused by a party's voluntary actions, modification is not appropriate. *Varner v. Varner*, 666 So. 2d 493, 497 (Miss. 1995).

Boyce also makes repeated reference to the fact that Debby's reported income on her 8.05 in 2003 was \$0.00, and that she is now earning a steady income. This is true. However, Boyce was aware at the time of settlement that Debby was working part time. T. at V. 2, p. 202. Furthermore, Debby was advised by the trial court very early on in the divorce proceedings that she could not expect to be wholly dependent upon Boyce after the divorce, and that she would have to find a job, regardless of her problems with fibromyalgia. T. at V. 1, pp. 128-129. Debby also knew that she would have to lower her standard of living and decrease her monthly expenses significantly. T. at V. 1, p. 129. Obviously, if her monthly expenses were \$10,000.00, and she was receiving \$3,300 per month from Boyce, something would most certainly have to change.

This Court has held that the law of alimony does not contemplate penalizing an alimony recipient "for being industrious and endeavoring to accomplish something rather than depend on [the alimony payor] regardless of future circumstances." *Spradling v. Spradling*, 362 So. 2d 620, 624 (Miss. 1978). However, Boyce asked the trial court, and now asks this Court, to do just that. Because Debby has done what everyone had anticipated that she would have to do, i.e. – significantly reduce her standard of living and obtain gainful employment, Boyce expects that she should be penalized. This is incomprehensible and, further, adverse to clear authority.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Boyce's petition for modification.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED DID NOT MODIFY OR RE-WRITE THE PARTIES' DIVORCE JUDGMENT REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF MEDICAL EXPENSES.

Contrary to Boyce's assertion, the trial court did not modify the parties' divorce agreement as it pertains to "uninsured medical expenses." Rather, it clarified the meaning of that term. At trial, each party asserted that a different meaning was to apply to the term. The court had no choice but to clarify what the term means. Boyce attempts to frame this as error on the part of the trial court by asserting that, in order to receive the relief that she was requesting, it was necessary for her to obtain relief from the March 2004 order. However, as noted above, the court did not modify the order, but rather, explained the order.

On March 8, 2004, the trial court entered an agreed order modifying its Final Judgment of Divorce in this matter. R. at V. 1, p. 89. Pursuant to Paragraph 1 of the agreed order, Boyce was required to pay all of Debby's "uninsured medical and dental expenses up to \$750.00 per month," or \$9,000.00 annually. *Id.* The testimony at trial revealed that the parties had different expectations regarding the impart of this provision. Boyce testified that he believed that the provision only applied to expenses that were not eligible for coverage under the policy, while Debby testified that she believed that "uninsured" expenses would also include those expenses which she was obligated to pay by way of her deductible and/or co-pay. T. at V. 1, pp. 92, 126. Debby testified that she would have never agreed to the amended language if she thought that the interpretation now being offered by Boyce would apply. T. at V. 1, p. 127.

"A true and genuine property settlement agreement is no different from any other contract, and the mere fact that it is between a divorcing husband and wife, and incorporated in a divorce decree, does not change its character." East v. East, 493 So. 2d 927, 931-32 (Miss. 1986). There is a three-tiered approach that courts use in interpreting a contract: the "four corners" of the document, the "canons' of contract construction," and extrinsic or parol evidence. Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Abernathy, 913 So. 2d 278, 284 (¶13) (Miss. 2005) (citations omitted). The four corners approach looks only at the language used in the contract. Id. The canons are to be used only if the four corners of the document are insufficient to interpret the contract, and extrinsic or parol evidence

is to be used only if the contract remains ambiguous after application of the four corners and the canons. *Id.* In this case, it is not necessary to go beyond the four corners of the contract between the parties.

The original health insurance provision in the parties' contract provides, in pertinent part, that "Husband shall pay Wife's health insurance and all uninsured medical and dental expenses until such time as Wife is eligible for Medicare benefits. Husband's responsibility for uninsured expenses shall be limited to \$500 per month." Property Settlement Agreement attached to and incorporated in Final Judgment of Divorce, ¶VII. R. at V. 1, p. 39. This language was later amended to provide that "Husband shall pay Wife's health insurance premium and all uninsured medical and dental expenses up to \$750.00 per month until such time as Wife is eligible for Medicare benefits. The deductible on Wife's health insurance policy shall be set at not more than \$4,000.00." Agreed Order of March 8, 2004, ¶1. R. at V. 1, p. 89

The language of the contract as a whole clearly supports Debby's interpretation. Boyce testified that Debby's interpretation makes no sense, because there was no benefit provided to him. However, he was allowed to raise the deductible upon Debby's policy, and in exchange, he agreed to raise his monthly obligation for the deductible and other expenses by \$250.00. This Court has found that "expenses not covered by the policy. . . includ[es] deductibles." *Creekmore v. Creekmore*, 651 So. 2d 513, 516 (Miss. 1995). The trial court correctly found that, based upon the four corners of the contract and the

applicable law, "uninsured medical and dental expenses" includes deductible amounts.

# III. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF CONTEMPT ON THE PART OF BOYCE TALBERT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.

While Boyce testified that his failure to fulfill his lump sum property settlement obligation to Debby was an "bookkeeping error," it is undisputed that he failed and refused to correct this oversight in the nine months between Debby's filing of her petition and the Court's judgment, and in the four months between his undisputably learning of the actual "oversight" and the time of the entry of the Court's judgment. The Court was well within its discretion in finding Boyce in contempt under the circumstances. Furthermore, the Court also found Boyce in contempt for failure to meet his life insurance obligations. Boyce was questioned about this issue extensively during trial and fully admitted that he had failed and refused to comply with the requirements placed upon him by the plain terms of the trial court's order. T. at V. 1, pp. 93-96. From Boyce's testimony, it appears that he never had any intention of fulfilling the obligations regarding life insurance that he accepted by way of the March 2004 Agreed Order. He has not sought to amend the trial court's judgment regarding these issues, but has indicated only that he cannot obtain a separate policy and that keeping Debby apprised of the status of her coverage under his current policy would be a bother to him. Boyce's willful, contumacious attitude towards his agreed, court ordered obligations in this regard are astounding, and yet he completely fails to address this separate, independent basis

upon which he was found in contempt.

# IV. THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES TO DEBORAH TALBERT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.

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